IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

KERRI PARMENTER

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01251

}

J&B ENTERPRISES, INC. AND MCDONALDS CORPORATION

APPELLEES

<u>Appellant's Chief Memorandum</u> of Law and Authorities.

Memorandum for Appellant Prepared By: Stewart Guernsey, MBACCON Stewart Guernsey, JD, MDir, LLC P.O. Box 167 Water Valley, MS 38965 (662) 473-0091, Fax (662) 473-0097 rsguernsey@bellsouth.net

Carnelia Fondren,ESQ, MBA Fondren Law Firm 904 N. Lamar Ave. Oxford, MS. 38655 (662)236-1480; Fax(662)236-1488 carfondren@yahoo.com

Of Counsel:

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KERRI PARMENTER

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01251

١·

Statement of Issues

AMENDED AND CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the trial court err by granting summary judgment to McDonalds, Inc?
- 2. Did the trial court err by granting a directed verdict when substantial evidence of agency principles, Defendant's liability, and Plaintiff's damages were plead and elicited by Plaintiff?
- 3. Did the trial court err by permitting an affirmative defense which had long since been waived and denying precedential value to a recently published opinion of the Mississippi Court of Appeals dealing with the precise issue of waiver?
- 4. Did the trial court err by placing the burden of allocation of the affirmative defenses of comparable negligence or pre-existing damages on plaintiff?
- 5. Did the trial court err by certifying a treating physician as an expert and then discrediting and decertifying him sua sponte?
- 6 Did the numerous and cumulative errors and omissions made by the court required reversal?

Statement of the Case

Kerri Parmenter, Plaintiff/Appellant, walked into McDonalds Restaurant in Holly Springs on August 11, 2000, after waiting outside in the "drive thru" line for a length of time she believed to be excessive. After the "drive thru" window she was asked to pull forward. After a further delay, Ms. Parmenter went into the McDonalds to check on her food. After still further delay, Plaintiff requested to see the manager. The employee who was asked to get the manager was Kesha Jones, listed al R. 105 as a cashier. (Her job title is later sworn to be "cook" by the owner of the franchise in question). (TR. 129). However, the Supervisor of the Holly Springs Restaurant testified that Ms. Jones was "cross-trained" to be a cook or a cashier. He didn't know what her job title was, but he assured the Court that she was capable of performing either job. (TR. 287). This discrepancy and several others will be discussed at more length in the Argument, to spare proclivity herein). After requesting the assistance of the manager, Ms. Parmenter watched as Ms. Jones "went back around the counter, fumbled through the utensil bin and got the big spatula and come [sic] back around the counter." R.105. Ms. Jones returned to the customer area, (the "other side" of the counter) where she struck Plaintiff, in the face, R.105. It should be noted that (R.105) is a portion of Defendant's McDonalds Statement of Undisputed Facts filed with their Summary Judgment Motion and later adopted by all Defendants as a "joint memorandum of law." R, p.205.

After the Complaint was filed on August 11, 2003, the Record shows an extensive history of Motions, Responses, Discovery and hearings leading to the First Trial Setting of April 1, 2008. CD-13, (Volume 1 of Records). Thereafter, the Court uniformly granted continuances to all Defendants, finally beginning trial on May 11, 2010. T.R. 1, (Volume

5). Plaintiff on Appeal seeks review, of two orders in particular: the Order Sustaining Motion For Summary Judgment, filed on 12/21/07. This order concerned McDonalds Corp., (of America), and is recorded at R. 421-22, (Vol.4). The second order is the Order Granting Defendants Motion For Directed Verdict, entered on June 3, 2010. (R. 452-53, Vol. 4). Finally, to the extent that the Court relied on Plaintiff's Motion For Summary Judgment made in chambers on May 11, 2010, (Tr. 2-3, Vol. 4) and found at (Tr. 336-37, Vol. 7), Plaintiff objected to the implicit orders incorporated in the Order granting directed verdict. (R. 452-53, Vol. 4).

Additionally, Ms. Parmenter relies on multiple, serial, and repeated errors made by the trial court which, taken together implicate a bias by the trial court and a need for remand. When conjoined with the major, reversible errors named, Plaintiff asserts that the "minor" errors require reversal and remand.

A final, personal note from this writer is in order. Despite the errors which Plaintiff vigorously asserts, Hon. Henry Lackey, Circuit Judge, remains a friend. His ready smile and unquestioned integrity have been a model to this writer since the late 1970s. Despite the regrettable errors asserted herein, counsel regrets Judge Lackey's necessary retirement and hopes to continue a friendship of forty years.

Summary of Argument

Ms. Parmenter, by counsel, asserts that the trial court erred by granting summary judgment to McDonalds (of America), Inc. There are four specific arguments to be made by Plaintiff: 1) McDonalds does control the operation of the franchise by its Operations Manual; 2) J & B Enterprises, Inc., despite the loud and frequent disclaimers of its owner, is bound by a Franchise Agreement with McDonalds to follow the manual; 3) "McDonalds" stamped on the uniform or every employee of J & B Enterprises, creates an "apparent agency"; and 4) collateral estoppel should adhere due to the finding of the same trial court, (different Judge), regarding the identical issue.

The trial court misconstrued Plaintiff's pleadings under a harsher "fact finding" standard than Mississippi's "liberal notice pleading" standard. Viewing the Complaint herein objectively, it meets the elements of pleading as to agency principles of "apparent agency;" "actual agency," assisted by the implements and policies of J & B and McDonalds as added to the course and scope of its employees assigned tasks and "cross training"; "estoppel" to deny agency; and "ratification" of its agents' acts; as well as the pleadings of negligence in security and management.

Despite clearly asserted case law to the contrary, the trial court erred in permitting an unwritten Motion for Summary Judgment, a statue of limitations defense long since waived as to intentional torts, and agency principles related thereto, and the granting of a Motion to Amend, purportedly justifying the waived affirmative defense. Each of these errors is plain.

Ms. Parmenter attacks the "decertification" of her treating physician as an expert in "Family Medicine," as well as the discrediting of the doctor as a fact witness. While

there is no authority which has been raised as to this "reverse gate-keeping", nor any authority in Mississippi law which Plaintiff can find, the removal of the "fact" testimony from the jury's role as fact-finder is patently erroneous and reversible. The discrediting of Dr. Cooper is outside of the trial judge's role, especially after an initial certification.

The affirmative defense of allocation/apportionment of fault and damages must be proved by the pleader. The wrongful assignment of this burden to the Plaintiff, who admittedly made no effort to establish any such allocation/apportionment, relying on MRCP 8, common law, and case law, is patently erroneous and cannot stand.

Plaintiff will further point out numerous intermittent errors by the court which; combined with the reversible errors cited above require reversal in light of His Honor's duties of preparedness, non-bias, and fairness. Included, but without limitation as to argument in this Memorandum, are: 1) the courts extraordinary statement of December 19, 2007, (R421, Vol. 4), that the alleged assault in the case was merely "the use [of] this instrument....with which all mothers of young children are acquainted." 2) the trial courts overruling of an agreement made between counsel for the parties; (Tr. 11, Vol. 5); 3)the Hon. Judge's acknowledgment that he had not read "the complete file," (Tr. 3, Vol. 5); 4) the Judge's acknowledgment of a "hearing" disability, (Tr. 48,Vol 5); 5) the Judge's further difficulties in hearing the evidence;(Tr. 149 Vol. 5); 6) the Judge's refusal to allow into evidence the reading of an IME already in the Court Records at (R. 368-375); and 7) granting the defendant's motion for directed verdict despite facts and inferences from which a reasonable juror could rule in plaintiff's favor; (Tr. 216, Vol. 6).

1. Did the trial court err by granting summary judgment to McDonalds (of America) Corporation?

Yes, the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to McDonalds despite material issues of fact presented by Plaintiff and despite a prior order of the same court as to the same issue. The trial court disregarded the questions raised by Plaintiff as to the right of McDonalds to control the daily operation of its franchise by its Operation of its Franchise Agreement with J&B Enterprises, Inc. The Court ignored stated questions as to the "apparent authority" of J&B employees to act for McDonalds, and the trial Court ignored Plaintiff's arguments re collateral estoppel, in toto.

Ms. Parmenter will first examine the argument regarding control of J&B employees by the McDonalds' Operating Manual and the Franchise Agreement. See (R. 273, el seq, Vols. 3 and 4). The Franchise Agreement, p. 1, clearly states that the "essence of this Franchise is the adherence by Licensee to Standards and policies of McDonalds providing for the uniform operation of all McDonalds' restaurants within the McDonalds' System." (R. 306, Vol. 3). Further, "...the Restaurant shall be operated in conformity to the McDonalds System through strict adherence to McDonalds' standards and policies as they exist now and as they maybe from time to time modified." (1d). The Franchise incorporates the Manual at p.2. (Id). McDonalds, at p.8 of the Franchise (Id.), reserves the right to "enter and take possession of the Restaurant" for any material breach of the Franchise Agreement. The lease, Exhibit "A" to the Franchise Agreement, requires operation of the restaurant "strictly in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Franchise Agreement. "(Id). If nothing else, the above requirements clearly express the

control of McDonalds' Franchisees' daily operations. Combined with detrimental reliance and the reasonableness of Plaintiff's reliance on the "appearance of authority" granted by McDonalds. See Eaton v. Porter, 645 So. 2d 1326, 1325 (Miss. 1994); McFarland v. Entergy, Docket # 2003-CT-00538 SCT (Miss. 2005), Plaintiff 26. See along Monts v. Moran Industries, Inc., 1995 WL 1945471 al *2 (N.D. Miss 1995). Any disputation between McDonalds and Plaintiff as to "course and scope" of duties of employees is properly a jury question. Eagle Motor Lines, Inc. v. Mitchell, 78 So.2d 482, 485. Further, "[w] here the injurious act complained of is not so separated by time and logical sequence from the business of the master as to make it a separate and independent transaction, the master is not relieved of liability. Where the whole transaction, as here consumers only a few moments and has all the features constituting one continuous and unbroken occurrence, a master is not relieved of liability because the servant stopped outside of his authority." This rule applies equally to an act or J&B as agent or "apparent agent" of McDonalds as to employees of J&B as their real or "apparent agency." Such a question is properly left to the jury. Indianola Cotton Oil Co. v. Crowley, 83 So. 409, 410 (Miss. 1920). These are specific factual disputes alleged by Plaintiff and material to the determination of all issues herein.

Finally where "identical issues," i.e.-"apparent authority," "course and scope of duty" are ruled on in prior cases, the prior rulings constitute collateral estoppel. <u>Mayor of Ocean Springs v. Homebuilder's Assn</u>, 932 So. 2d44,59 (Miss. 2006).

For reasons unknown to Plaintiff, the learned trial judge declined to address even one of these material issues in dispute. MRCP 56. For this reason, and because the issues were presented in Plaintiff's Response to McDonald's Motion for Summary for Directed

Verdict), this case must be reversed and remanded for hearings regarding McDonald's liability and damages attributable thereto. Judge Howorth of the same court had previously denied summary judgment based on the same issues. (R. 289, Vol. 3).

2. Did the trial court err by granting a directed verdict when substantial evidence of agency principles, Defendant J&B Enterprise breach of duties, Plaintiff's resultant injuries and the probable cause of those injuries by Defendant's breaches were properly plead and evidence elicited thereto by Plaintiff?

Yes, the trial court committed plain error by granting directed verdict in favor of J&B Enterprises and against Plaintiff. The standards for granting a Directed Verdict are found al MRCP 50 and the Comment thereto. The Comment asserts. "The rule enables the court to determine whether there is any question of fact to be submitted to the jury and whether any verdict other than the one directed would be erroneous as a matter of law....This provision requires that the motion for a directed verdict state the specific grounds therefore..."

"Rule 50 (a) also provides "the court should look solely to the testimony on behalf of the opposing party; if such testimony, along with all inferences which can be taken therefrom, could support a verdict for that party, the case should not be taken from the jury." See <u>Fox v. Smith</u>, 594 So. 2d 596 (Miss. 1992), for the proposition that a directed verdict should not be used to dispose of a case where questions of fact are raised in the proof at trial since questions of fact are for a jury. See also <u>Fulton v. Robinson</u> <u>Industries</u>, 55 4 So. 2d 170 (Miss. 1995), asserting that all evidence must be considered in

the light most favorable to the non-moving party, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inferences that could reasonably be drawn therefrom. Also <u>Regency Nissan</u>, <u>Inc. v. Jenkins</u>, 678 So 2d 95 (Miss. 1996), which adds that when contradictory evidence exists, the court must defer to the jury.

Much of the argument made in Issue 1, SUPRA, overlaps with this argument. Many of the same allegations against McDonalds, Inc., are asserted in testimony against J&B, much of it adverse testimony.

For the first time in their unwritten renewed request for Summary Judgment, Defendant claims that Plaintiff's pleadings are not adequate to assert a charge based on agency principles. This is simply wrong. See MRCP 8 (a). At Section XVII, the Complaint alleges that "J.B. (sic) Enterprises" is liable to Plaintiff. It also alleges, negligence on behalf of J&B in four particulars:

1) Negligent hiring of Kesha Jones;

2) Negligent training of personnel;

3) Negligent supervision and control of the premises and

4) Negligence in failing to provide adequate security.

All defendants specifically denied all allegations of negligence, and generally denied any other claim. While they asserted an affirmative defense of "failure to state a claim," they did not assert a statute of limitations defense, although the Complaint clearly asserts intentional tort, attributable to defendants under agency principles, (i.e. Respondent Superior). Further, intermittently throughout the pre-trial litigation, Ms. Parmenter asserted Respondent Superior and related agency principles. For example, at (R290, Vol. 3), Plaintiff in Response to J & B's initial (and later "renewed") motion for summary judgment, specifically asserts assault and battery as "the subject of this litigation." She specifically claims that, based on testimony by Mr. Byrd, the owner of the franchise, Kesha Jones was acting within the course and scope of her employment. She does not relate whether this implicates her apparent authority, whether J & B's liability is the by Mr. Byrd's ratification, or because J & B is estopped from denying course and scope. There is a strong implication of Ms. Jones' assault being aided by her employment; specifically, Mr. Byrd's testimony that the spatula is an instrument used in cooking or "grilling". Each of these theories was "noticed" by the filing of jury instructions on the first day of trial. They are well within the ambit of the pleading of the Complaint. And each was re-asserted in oral argument on the directed verdict motion.

At (Tr. 324-25, Vol. 7); Plaintiff asserts that the case includes an intentional tort aspect, as well as, negligence. The argument regarding "course and scope" where the employee is "aided by the existence of the agency relationship," is bolstered by citation to Jones v. B. L. Development Corp.; 940 S0. 2d 961 at Plaintiff 20; (Tr. 325, Vol. 7). Plaintiff, by counsel, referred to her jury instructions for support of her claims of estoppels and ratification. (Id.)

Next, Plaintiff argues regarding negligence. Counsel refers to the testimony of J&B Supervisor Ron Newcomb as to two specific dangers created by the operation of the restaurant on August 21, 2000, (Tr. 326, Vol 7), referencing (Tr. 290-91 Vol. 6) locked doors creating a danger and operating against the mandatory policy, (Tr. 286, 290, Vol. 6). At (Tr. 291, Vol. 6), Mr. Newcomb testifies to one element of apparent authority, at

(Tr. 287, Vol. 6) he testifies to another. The entirety of Ms. Parmenter's testimony and of Dr. Cooper's testimony regards the third and final element. That is, Mr. Newcomb testifies to J&B's authorization by cross- training of Ms. Jones and to the reasonableness of assuming the has authority to assist the customer. As to negligence, he establishes both a duty and a breach of duty as to management and security. He touches on ratification by inaction, (Tr. 292, Vol. 6), which is significantly embellished by Mr. Byrd (Tr.131,138-9, Vol 5) and Ms. Kinkle, a former employee, at (Tr. 198, Vol. 6). Mr. Byrd further testifies to elements of apparent authority at (Tr. 143, Vol. 5) and (Tr. 134, Vol. 5).

As suggested above, the agency principles asserted by Plaintiff, and the elements of each principle, are:

1)"apparent authority"-citing Section 219 (2)(d) of the Restatement (Second) of Agency:a) a master is not subject to liability for the torts of his servants acting outside the scope of their employment, unless:

b) the servant purported to act or to speak on behalf of the principal and there was reliance upon apparent authority, or he was aided in accomplishing the tort by the existences of the agency relation.

See also Jones v. B.L. Dev. Corp, 940 So. 2d 961, 967 (Miss. App. 2006), Farragher v. City of Boca Raton, 526 U.S. 775 (1998).

The first portion of (2) (d) outlines the elements of "apparent authority." while the second clause offers an alternative route. There is certainly a fact question as to whether Ms. Jones "purported to act or speak on behalf of the principal." There is also a fact question as to whether she "was aided in accomplishing the tort by the existence of the agency relationship". While later cases require "reasonable reliance," "acts of the

employer" creating the apparent authority; and detrimental reliance, <u>Summerall Electric</u>
<u>Co. v. Church of God al Southaven</u>, 2008-CA-02120-COA, Para. 25, et seq, (MSCA,
2010), the facts testified to as cited above, imply these added requirements as well.
Apparent authority is a question reserved for the jury. <u>O.W.O. Investments, Inc. v. Stone</u>
<u>Inv. Co. Inc</u>, 32 So 3d 439, 447 (Miss. 2010).

2) Ratification- Plaintiff cites to Autry v. State, 689 So.2d 84, (Miss.1997):

¶10 Further, assuming arguendo that Autry is correct in his assertion that service of process was improper because Byers was not his authorized agent for that purpose, Autry ratified Clay Byers as his "agent" for service of process by his payment of the forfeited bond. "<u>The subsequent acts of the principal may be equivalent to prior consent to the delegations of authority.</u>" <u>3 C.J.S. & 264 (1973)</u>. "Ratification is the affirmance by a person of a prior act which did not bind him but which was done or professedly done on his account, whereby the act, as to some or all persons, is given effect as if originally authorized by him." Carter v. Hurst 234, So.2d 616, 620 (Miss. 1970). See also Gulf Refining Co. v. Travis, 201 Miss. 336, 29 So.2d 100, 104-05 (1947). [Emph. Added].

Finally, the question of ratification of an agent's acts is not to be taken from the jury. <u>Allen v. Ritter, 235 So. 2d 253 (Miss 1970), cited at Royal Oil Co., Inc. v. Wells, 500 So. 2d 439, 447 (Miss 1986).</u>

3) Estoppel is the a priori equivalent of ratification. It is closely akin to apparent authority. As set out in <u>Lucas v. Baptist Hospital Memorial Hospital North Mississippi</u>, <u>Inc.</u> 997 So 2d 226, 234 (Miss. C.A., 2008) set out the elements of estoppels as "(1) belief and reliance on some representation; (2) a change of position as a result thereof; and (3) detriment or prejudice caused by the change of position." These principles apply

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