IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

KERRI PARMENTER

APPELLANT

52__

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2010-ca-01251

J&B ENTERPRISES, INC. AND MCDONALDS CORPORATION, INC.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Kerri Parmenter, Plaintiff-Appellant;
- 2. Dana Churchill, Former Plaintiff;
- 3. Smith Whaley, PLLC, Former Counsel for Plaintiffs;
- 4. Hill & Minyard, Former Counsel for Plaintiffs;

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

"The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence, including expert testimony, is an abuse of discretion." <u>Utz v. Running & Rolling Trucking, Inc.</u>, 32 So.3d 450, 457 (Miss. 2010).

Rule 702 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence states:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

Miss. R. Evid. 702. Under Rule 702, expert testimony is admissible if it is relevant and reliable. <u>Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore</u>, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss.2003). "Further, the trial judge is considered the gatekeeper and determines the value of the expert testimony. As the gatekeeper, the trial judge ensures that any expert testimony is relevant and reliable." <u>Utz</u>, 32 So. 3d at 457.

In <u>Gilbert v. Ireland</u>, 949 So. 2d 784, 791 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), plaintiff allegedly suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder after a car accident. Plaintiff's expert diagnosed PTSD despite not having medical records or testimony of plaintiff's condition prior to the accident. Due to plaintiff's extensive mental health problems prior to the accident, the doctor's testimony was not reliable and should have been excluded. <u>Id.</u> at 791-92.

Trial courts have the discretion to initially allow an individual to testify as an expert and later strike that individual's qualifications due to unreliable testimony which belie the individual's professional qualifications. <u>Bullock v. Lott</u>, 964 So. 2d 1119, 1132 (Miss. 2007).

The trial transcript clearly demonstrates that Dr. Cooper did not demonstrate sufficient training to show that he was familiar with the requisite qualifications to testify to the cause of post-traumatic stress disorder. Dr. Cooper's only board certification is in weight management. During voir dire, Defendants' counsel questioned Dr. Cooper's qualifications:

Q: Sir, my question is simply: Do you feel that you are qualified to testify to the standard of care of a psychologist today? Do you understand my question?

A: If you would like to have a psychologist testify, I think you should bring in a psychologist as a witness.

Q: Are you telling me that you cannot testify?

A: I am not a psychologist.

Q; My question, sir, is simple. Can you testify? Do you feel that you are qualified to testify to the standard of care of a psychologist?

A: Why would I?

Q: Wow. Can you answer yes or no and then explain?

A: No. I'm not a psychologist.

Q: So the answer to my question is no?

A: Yes, if you are asking me if I'm a psychologist, no, I'm not.

Q: That's not really what I'm asking you; but I'll live with that and move forward. Can you testify to the standard of care of a psychiatrist? Do you believe you are qualified?

A: No.

(Trans. 75-76).

Despite this lack of qualification, Dr. Cooper unequivocally testified regarding issues requiring expert psychological or psychiatric testimony. On direct examination, Plaintiff's counsel asked, "What is the difference, if there's any difference, between post-traumatic stress and general anxiety, generalized anxiety disorder?" (Trans. 83). Dr. Cooper responded, "Often psychiatric diagnoses overlap and particularly the anxiety, the stress, and the panic attacks that might come along could occur. In other words, someone could be anxious that had post-traumatic stress disorder; and there's depression that occurs with it too. All these can overlap." (Trans. 83).

Even if he was qualified, Dr. Cooper did not review the medical records documenting Plaintiff's extensive mental health problems and could not have properly formed a basis for his "expert opinion." He simply relied on Plaintiff's statements that she did not have a history of mental health problems:

Q: At some point you began to treat her for a mental illness; is that correct?

A: That's correct.

Q: At that point where you realized you were treating her for a mental illness did you get her medical records from the Byhalia Medical Clinic?

A: At the time I did not realize there was such a long detailed history; so, no. Usually you don't. I mean I didn't know that she had been to the Byhalia clinic.

Q: There you go. You didn't know she had been because you didn't ask her; is that right?

A: It would be difficult, yes, to ask them.

Q: Good. We're moving forward. At any time point did you ask her about any social experience she had, family or otherwise, prior to August 11 of 2000? Did you take a history of this is all I'm asking.

• • •

A: I asker her if there was a history of mental illness.

Q: She said?

A: She did not indicate that there was.

Q: She told you no?

A: Yes, or she did not answer that where the area was. It was assumed no if you didn't put that, so that would be a no.

Q: Really what happened is you looked at the patient intake form that she completed and saw that there was no check about prior history, and that's all you did. Isn't that right?

A: What would you expect me to do?

Q: Sir, I'm just asking you if you did or you didn't. Is that all you did?

A: Yes....

(Trans. 76-77). Dr. Cooper's failure to perform a proper history seriously undermined his qualifications as an expert witness in this matter.

Dr. Cooper diagnosed post-traumatic stress disorder, but the only care he provided was to "once a month [] spend 15 minutes with [Plaintiff] and prescribe her medications." (Trans. 106). Dr. Cooper diagnosed anti-anxiety medications such as Xanax and anti-depressants such as Zoloft to treat Plaintiff after the subject incident. (Trans. 88). However, Dr. Cooper did not know that Plaintiff "received treatment for anxiety, depression, and nerves from the Mount Pleasant Family Health Clinic from the years of 1998 to a couple of months before this incident." (Trans. 96).

Dr. Cooper was unaware that Plaintiff was prescribed Zoloft, an anti-depressant, on March 6, 2000. (Trans. 96-97). Dr. Cooper was unaware that Plaintiff was prescribed Paxil, an anti-depressant, on May 16, 2000, three months before the subject incident. (Trans. 93, 97, 101). Dr. Cooper was unaware that Plaintiff was taking Elavil, an anti-depressant, until September 22, 2000 under the prescription of another physician. (Trans. 100-101). He also testified that it was "interesting" that Plaintiff's treating medical providers did not prescribe her Xanax for her longstanding history of "anxiety or panic attacks" prior to the subject incident at the restaurant in August 2000. (Trans. 104-05).

Dr. Cooper did not have the proper qualifications to testify to a condition he classified as a "psychiatric diagnosis." He testified that he did not know the standard of care of a psychologist or psychiatrist. His diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder was made without taking a proper patient history and without knowledge that Plaintiff was already being treated for the same condition before the subject incident. Dr. Cooper's expert testimony was fatally unreliable and the trial court correctly disregarded his "expert testimony."

B. <u>Plaintiff's testimony exceeded that allowable as a lay witness.</u>

Plaintiff also argues that Dr. Cooper's testimony should still be accepted as lay testimony in lieu of expert testimony. There is no rule prohibiting a treating physician from testifying as a lay person about the facts and circumstances surrounding the care and treatment of the patient. <u>Griffin v. McKenney</u>, 877 So. 2d 425, 439-40 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). However, the physician cannot testify to the significance of the condition. <u>Id.</u> In <u>Foster v. Noel</u>, 715 So.2d 174, 183 (Miss.1998), "the court held that a treating physician rendered improper expert testimony when he opined that the patient's condition of depression was exacerbated by the defendant's alleged false arrest. That testimony was improper because it informed the jury of the significance of the condition to the case." <u>Griffin</u>, 877 So. 2d at 439-40.

Dr. Cooper is a family physician whose only board certification is bariatrics, the practice of weight control. (Trans. 71). Dr. Cooper testified that he diagnosed Plaintiff with posttraumatic stress disorder. (Trans. 80-85). Dr. Cooper testified that Plaintiff's post-traumatic stress disorder was caused by the subject incident between Plaintiff and Jones. (Trans. 81). Dr. Cooper also testified that Plaintiff was unable to function in public, hold employment, and other problems arising from PTSD and the subject incident with Jones. (Trans. 84-86, 102-103).

Dr. Cooper clearly crossed the line into expert testimony. The only substantive portions of Dr. Cooper's testimony concerns causation of Plaintiff's alleged case of PTSD and her alleged damages. Dr. Cooper admitted that he took no meaningful history of Plaintiff. (Trans. 96-97). Removing testimony of the causation of Plaintiff's alleged PTSD and the significance of this diagnosis, the only remaining lay testimony from Dr. Cooper is comments from Plaintiff regarding the incident. This testimony merely reflects the testimony given by Plaintiff. If the

court strikes the impermissible portions of Dr. Cooper's testimony, then Plaintiff cannot prove any damages resulting from the subject incident with Jones.

C. <u>Plaintiff did not meet its evidentiary burden to introduce the deposition or records</u> of Trudi Porter.

Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred by not allowing introduction of the deposition of Trudi Porter. Trudi Porter is a clinical psychologist retained by Defendant to perform a psychological evaluation of Plaintiff. (R. 369; Trans. 152-53). Plaintiff did not name Porter as an expert witness. (Trans. 149). Plaintiff did not subpoena Porter to trial. (Trans. 150).

Plaintiff sought to introduce Porter's deposition at trial. (Trans. 148). Defendant objected on the grounds of hearsay for unavailability and failure to name Porter as an expert witness. (Trans. 148). Plaintiff responded only that the rules of evidence allow the use of depositions at trial. (Trans. 151).

Miss. R. Civ. P. 32(a) states,

"At the trial or upon the hearing of a motion of an interlocutory proceeding, any part or all of a deposition, so far as admissible under the rules of evidence applied as though the witness were then present and testifying, may be used against any party who was present or represented at the taking of the deposition or who had reasonable notice thereof, in accordance with any of the following provisions:

(3) The deposition of a witness, whether or not a party, may be used by any party for any purpose if the court finds: (A) that the witness is dead; or (B) that the witness is at a greater distance than one hundred miles from the place of trial or hearing, or is out of the state, unless it appears that the absence of the witness was procured by the party offering the deposition; or (C) that the witness is unable to attend or testify because of age, illness, infirmity, or imprisonment; or (D) that the party offering the deposition has been unable to procure the attendance of the witness by subpoena; or (E) that the witness is a medical doctor or (F) upon application and notice, that such exceptional circumstances exist as to make it desirable, in the interest of justice and with due regard to the importance of presenting the testimony of witnesses orally in open court, to allow the deposition to be so used.

M.R.C.P. 32 (emphasis added).

. . .

Miss. R. Evid. 804(b) states: "The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

(1) Former Testimony. Testimony given as a witness at another hearing of the same or a different proceeding, or in a deposition taken in compliance with law in the course of the same or another proceeding, if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

Miss. R. Evid. 804. To qualify for this exception, the moving party must establish that the witness is unavailable. The only applicable means in this case is that the witness was "absent from the hearing and the proponent of his statement has been unable to procure his attendance (or in the case of a hearsay exception under subdivision (b)(2), (3), or (4), his attendance or testimony) by process or other reasonable means."

If no subpoena is issued, neither M.R.C.P. 32 nor Miss. R. Evid. 804 apply. <u>Smith v.</u> <u>City of Gulfport</u>, 949 So. 2d 844, 848 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Proof "other than counsel telling the court that the witness was unavailable" is required to show that these rules apply. <u>Id.</u> at 849. Furthermore, psychologists are not medical doctors and do not qualify under the exception in M.R.C.P. 32(a)(3). <u>Baine v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 249, 254 (Miss. 1992).

In the present case, Plaintiff did not subpoena Porter to trial. (Trans. 150). Plaintiff offered no proof regarding the location of Porter other than rumor. (Trans. 149-150, 152, 154). Plaintiff could not prove that Porter was unavailable. (Trans. 149-150, 152, 154). Thus, the trial court properly excluded Porter's deposition.

Plaintiff also sought to introduce the report of Porter. (Trans. 151). Plaintiff alleged that Porter performed a Physical and Mental Evaluation under M.R.C.P. 35. (Trans. 151-52). No motion or Order for the evaluation was ever filed or entered. (Trans. 152-53). Plaintiff did not offer any evidence to authenticate Porter's report. (Trans. 151-154). "The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what it proponents claims." Miss. R. Evid. 901(a). When a witness did not prepare the records, did not maintain original possession of the records, and could not verify the accuracy of the records, then that witness cannot authenticate the document. <u>Bower v. Bower</u>, 758 So. 2d 405, 415 (Miss. 2000). Plaintiff did not offer any witness or evidence to authenticate the report. Therefore, Porter's report was not admissible.

Plaintiff argues that this report should have been admissible under Miss. R. Evid. 803(4),

which states:

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment, regardless of to whom the statements are made, or when the statements are made, if the court, in its discretion, affirmatively finds that the proffered statements were made under circumstances substantially indicating their trustworthiness. For purposes of this rule, the term "medical" refers to emotional and mental health as well as physical health.

Id. Plaintiff seemingly argues that this rule is sufficient to introduce the medical opinions of Porter.

If applicable, Rule 803(4) would only apply to the statements made by Plaintiff for purposes of diagnosis. Comment to Miss. R. Evid. 803(4). Plaintiff has not identified how these statements of Plaintiff differed from Plaintiff's testimony at trial. The statements and opinions of Porter would remain hearsay. As discussed above, Porter was unavailable and Plaintiff could not provide any certified records. Therefore, Porter's records were properly not allowed into evidence at trial.

V. PLAINTIFF FAILS TO IDENTIFY ANY GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER.

Plaintiff's final argument is the proverbial "kitchen-sink" argument. Plaintiff names a host of proffered errors ranging from bias to the trial judge's hearing ability to errors of law. There is no central theme tying these matters together, so Defendant will attempt to address these matters as they are raised by Plaintiff.

Plaintiff first asserts that Judge Lackey failed to meet his duty of diligence by failing to read the entire record on the first morning of trial. Matters not objected to at trial and raised for the first time on appeal are waived. <u>Chasez</u>, 935 So. 2d at 1062. Plaintiff did not object to Judge Lackey's preparation prior to trial. Plaintiff did not ask Judge Lackey to continue the trial or recuse himself. Therefore, Plaintiff waived this alleged issue.

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